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I. INTRODUCTION  

 Plaintiffs’ opposition misses the point, and misstates the meaning of a basic 

contract law term.  The fact that the client disputes the amount of the lien does not 

divest this Court of jurisdiction.  This Court has jurisdiction to hear the motion for 

adjudication; and, the Opposition does not cite contrary authority. 

 As to the facts, the e-mails between Mr. Simon and Mr. Edgeworth contradict 

the story told in the Opposition.  On May 27, 2016, Mr. Simon agreed to “send a few 

letters” in response to the stated desire of Mr. Edgeworth that he did “not want to 

waste your time”.  Exhibit A.  There are no writings that support the story of the 

Opposition of contract formation in May of 2016; instead, the documents support the 

conclusion that Mr. Simon took the case without a formal agreement. 

 Likewise, the story of the Opposition that an express contract was reached on 

attorney fees is contradicted by Mr. Edgeworth’s own words.  On August 22, 2017, 

Mr. Edgeworth wrote in response to continued fee discussions: 

 “We never really had a structured discussion about how this might be done” 

. . . 

. . . 

. . .
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And, in acknowledgment that the case was not handled on a strict hourly basis: 

I could also swing hourly for the whole case (unless I am off what this is going 
to cost).  I would likely borrow another $450k from Margaret in 250 and 200 
increments and then either I could use one of the house sales for cash or if 
things get really bad, I still have a couple million in bitcoin I could sell.” 

 
Exhibit B.  Obviously, if the case was on strict hourly, the above statements would 

not have been made by Mr. Edgeworth, as he was already on the hook for the fee.  

Instead, Mr. Edgeworth’s own words confirm that his friend was not fully billing the 

case to ease the strain on Mr. Edgeworth, and because of an expectation of a fee 

based on results and not time. 

II. ARGUMENT 

 When there is no express contract, an attorney is due a reasonable fee under 

the Nevada attorney lien statute, NRS 18.015(2).1  The court has wide discretion on 

the method of calculation of the attorney fee.  Albios v. Horizon Communities, Inc., 

132 P.3d 1022, 1034 (Nev. 2006).  Whatever method of calculation is used by the 

court, the amount of the attorney fee must be reasonable under the Brunzell factors. 

Id.  The court should enter written findings of the reasonableness of the fee under the 

Brunzell factors.  Argentena Consolidated Mining Co., v. Jolley, Urga, Wirth, 

Woodbury & Standish, 216 P.3d 779, at fn2 (Nev. 2009). 

                         

1 There are two types of attorney liens in Nevada.  A “charging” lien, which 
attaches to a fund of money obtained by the efforts of the attorney; and, a 
“retaining” lien, which allows an attorney to withhold client documents until paid.  
The law office asserted a charging lien.   

AA00596



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 The Brunzell factors are: 

 1. The qualities of the advocate; 

           2. The character of the work to be done; 

           3. The work actually performed; and,  

           4. The result obtained. 

Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 455 P.2d 31 (Nev. 1969). 

 The Declaration of William Kemp is attached at Exhibit C.  Mr. Kemp is one 

of the top product liability attorneys in the United States.  Mr. Kemp is also very 

experienced in the determination of the reasonable fee of an attorney in a product 

liability case.  In his Declaration, Mr. Kemp describes his experience in detail, 

including his work on the determination of a reasonable attorney fee.  Mr. Kemp then 

reviews and applies the Brunzell factors to find a reasonable fee for The Law Office 

of Daniel Simon P.C. for the amazing work performed on behalf of the Edgeworths.  

Mr. Kemp reaches a reasonable attorney fee value of $2,440,000.00. 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 
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 A. There was no express contract. 

 The Opposition misstates basic contract law.  In Golightly v. Gassner, 281 

P.3d 1176 (table) (Nev. 2009) the Supreme Court stated: 

In the absence of a fee agreement, NRS 18.015(a) allows an attorney’s lien to 
be “for a reasonable fee.”  When an express fee agreement exists, NRS 
18.015 does not specify whether the district court must similarly examine an 
attorney fees award for reasonableness.  (Emphasis added.) 
 

 An express contract can be oral or written; an implied contract is inferred by 

conduct.  This is basic contract law.  Black’s Law Dictionary states: 

Express and implied.  An express contract is an actual agreement of the 
parties, the terms of which are openly uttered or declared at the time of making 
it, being stated in distinct and explicit language, either orally or in writing. 
 
An implied contract is one not created or evidenced by the explicit agreement 
of the parties, but inferred by the law, as a matter of reason and justice from 
their acts or conduct, the circumstances surrounding the transaction making it a 
reasonable, or even a necessary, assumption that a contract existed between 
them by tacit understanding.  (Italics in original.) 
 

Black’s Law Dictionary, Fifth Edition, at 292-93. 

 The Opposition does not explain away the client’s written admission that Mr. 

Simon and Mr. Edgeworth never had a structed discussion regarding payment.  It 

does not matter that certain billings were paid in an express contract analysis.  For 

any contract to exist, all details and terms must be agreed upon, as a matter of law.  

Loma Linda University v. Eckenweiler, 469 P.2d 54, 56 (1970). 
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 B. This Court has jurisdiction to adjudicate the lien. 

 The clients did not support their challenge to the jurisdiction of this Court to 

adjudicate the lien.  The clients submit rhetorical questions, but do not supply any 

legal authority for the proposition that this Court cannot adjudicate the attorney lien.  

On the other side of the issue, the law office provided extensive Nevada authority, 

statutory and case law, that this Court has jurisdiction to adjudicate the lien. 

 Contentions of law within motions and oppositions must be supported by 

authority.  EDCR 2.20.  If a legal contention is not supported by authority, then the 

court may find that the contention is not meritorious.  EDCR 2.20.  The motion to 

adjudicate lien set out in detail the applicable Nevada law that provides this Court has 

jurisdiction over the attorney lien.  The client did not provide contrary authority.  

Simply calling a lien “fugitive” without explaining how or why, and with no 

supporting legal authority, is not sufficient.  Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction 

to adjudicate the lien. 

 To be clear, this Court has jurisdiction to adjudicate the charging lien 

regardless of the existence of the alleged contract.  The court’s resolution of the 

contract issue may impact the method of calculation of fee, but it does not impact 

jurisdiction. 
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C. A client does not divest a court of jurisdiction over a charging lien 
by creating a fee dispute. 

 
 The clients did not make a supported argument that this Court is divested of 

jurisdiction to adjudicate the lien by the alleged contract dispute, nor did the clients 

support the inferred argument that the lien adjudication and their contract action are 

mutually exclusive remedies.  (They are not.  See, e.g., NRS 18.015.) 

 This Court may address the impact on fees by the alleged contract through 

motion practice and/or an evidentiary hearing.  In, Hallmark v. Christensen Law 

Offices, 381 P.3d 618 (Nev. 2012), the Nevada Supreme Court directed the district 

court to hold an evidentiary hearing to answer the question of “what is the amount of 

the lien to be determined by the Court?”  In Hallmark, the Supreme Court directed 

the district court to deal with allegations of billing fraud at an evidentiary hearing. 

 The Supreme Court in Golightly, 281 P.3d 1176 upheld a district court lien 

adjudication when fees were disputed.  In, T.I.P. Holding Corporation v. Bowers, 

2013 WL 782543, the Supreme Court upheld an adjudication of a retaining lien that 

involved claims of excessive billing.  The amount of fees was impliedly disputed in 

Golightly & Vannah, PLLC v. TJ Allen, LLC, 373 P.3d 103 (Nev. 2016), although the 

decision focused on the failure of the law firm to perfect its lien under NRS 18.015.  

 In Ecomares Inc., v. Ovcharik, 2007 WL 1933573 (D. Nev. 2007), Magistrate 

Cooke recommended that a motion to adjudicate lien when fees are in dispute be 

delayed until “resolution of this proceeding”, then the law firm could proceed with a 
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lien adjudication.  That thinking was followed by Magistrate Leavitt in Selimaj v. 

Henderson Police Department, 2010 WL 1688763 (D. Nev. 2010), when a dispute 

over costs was resolved by lien adjudication after settlement of the proceeding.  

The statute, NRS 18.015, does not have any exceptions (contract dispute or 

otherwise) to jurisdiction over a charging lien.  The only possible exception that 

could be argued is when legal malpractice is alleged, based on dicta from Argentena 

Consolidated Mining Co., v. Jolley, Urga, Wirth, Woodbury & Standish, 216 P.3d 

779, 782 (Nev. 2009).  The legal malpractice comment is dicta because it was not a 

part of the holding of the case.  The Argentena opinion recognized that dicta is not 

controlling at HN 8 when the Court states:  

“Dicta is not controlling. A statement in a case is dictum when it is 
unnecessary to a determination of the questions involved...”   
 

 The Argentena case addressed whether a court could adjudicate a retaining 

lien.  The Court concluded that a district court could not adjudicate a retaining lien, 

because a retaining lien was based on common law and was not mentioned in NRS 

18.015.  The case did not involve a charging lien and any ruling surrounding a 

charging lien is merely dictum.   
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 The Hallmark opinion concurs.  In Hallmark, the Supreme Court cited to 

Argentena when it directed the district court to hold an evidentiary hearing to address 

the allegations of billing fraud: 

“...Accordingly, we reverse the district court’s judgment and remand this 
matter for further proceedings consistent with Brunzell or Argentina Consol. 
Min. Co. Upon remand, the district court is directed to conduct an evidentiary 
hearing to determine the issue of quantum meruit and other allegations, 
including the allegations of billing fraud. The district court is also instructed to 
make detailed findings of fact to support its award or denial of attorney fees.” 
 

 In 2013, the Legislature added a retaining lien to NRS 18.015.  Now a district 

court has unfettered jurisdiction to adjudicate a retaining lien.  Fredianelli v. Fine 

Carmen Price, 402 P.3d 1254 (Nev. 2017).  In Fredianelli, the Nevada Supreme 

Court found that because the Legislature added a retaining lien to NRS 18.015, a 

court in a paternity action could determine the amount of attorney fees owed and 

reduce the retaining lien to a judgment. 

 D. There was no conversion, and no duties were breached. 

 There is agreement between the parties that labels (and bananas) are cheap.  

What matters is the merit of a position. 

 The clients obliquely dismiss the opinion of Mr. Clark, without once 

addressing the merits of his opinion.  Mr. Clark’s opinion is well grounded in the 

law.  Mr. Clark confirms that a law firm is not just within its legal rights to pursue an 

attorney’s lien, but encouraged to do so by the rules of ethics.  The clients provide no 

contrary authority. 
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 Mr. Clark also confirms that placement of money into a trust account is not 

conversion.  The clients’ case authority confirms the opinion.  Bader v. Cerri, 609 

P.2d 314 (Nev. 1980), addressed a refusal to release a cattle brand after a dispute 

over a contract to sell land and the cattle.  The refusal to release a cattle brand in 

Bader was not allowed by statute (NRS 18.015).  The decision in Gebhardt v. D.A. 

Davidson & Co., 661 P.2d 855 (Mont. 1983) was based on a procedural error by the 

district court, and does not apply. 

  1. Plaintiffs do not have a right to possession sufficient to allege  

  conversion. 

 
 In M.C. Multi-Family Development, L.L.C. v. Crestdale Associates, Ltd., 193 

P.3d 536, 543 (2008), citing California law, the Nevada Supreme Court recognized 

the need to establish the right to “exclusivity” of the chattel or property alleged to be 

converted (M.C. Multi-Family addressed alleged conversion of intangible property).  

Plaintiffs claim they are due money via a settlement agreement, a contract.  Thus, 

Plaintiffs have plead a right to payment based upon contract.  However, an alleged 

contract right to possession is not exclusive enough, without more, to support a 

conversion claim: 

“A mere contractual right of payment, without more, will not suffice” to bring 
a conversion claim.” 

 
Plummer v. Day/Eisenberg, 184 Cal.App.4th 38, 45 (Cal. CA, 4th Dist. 2010).  See, 

Restatement (Second) of Torts §237 (1965), comment d. 
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 Nevada law expressly allows an attorney to recover fees via a charging lien, 

and expressly states such an effort is not a breach of duty.  NRS 18.015(5).  Thus, as 

a matter of law, asserting a charging lien, or expressing a desire to be paid cannot 

serve to change a lien claim into conversion. 

 A lien claim is not conversion.  In Morfeld v. Andrews, 579 P.2d 426 (Wyo. 

1978), the court granted summary judgment in favor of the defendant attorney when 

a client alleged a lien claim was conversion.  More recently in Behesthi v. Bartley, 

2009 WL 5149862, (Calif. 2009), the court granted a motion to dismiss a similar 

client claim, and granted the defendant attorney relief under the California Anti-

SLAPP statute - which is akin to Nevada’s. 

  2. A charging lien is allowed by statute. 

 NRS 18.015 allows an attorney to file a charging lien.  The Law Office of 

Daniel S. Simon, A Professional Corporation acted in compliance with the statute. 

Thus, as a matter of law, Plaintiffs cannot satisfy the wrongful dominion element. 

. . . 

. . . 

. . .   

AA00604



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

  3. The money was placed into a trust account, per agreement of the  

  parties. 

 The Law Office of Daniel S. Simon, A Professional Corporation acted 

properly pursuant to Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 1.15 “Safekeeping 

Property”.  The Rule states in relevant part: 

(e) When in the course of representation, a lawyer is in possession of funds or 
other property in which two or more persons (one of whom may be the lawyer) 
claim interests, the property shall be kept separate by the lawyer until the 
dispute is resolved.  The lawyer shall promptly distribute all portions of the 
funds or other property as to which the interests are not in dispute. 

 
 The law office followed the exact course mandated by the Rules of 

Professional Conduct.  The money was placed into a trust account per agreement of 

the parties.  See Bank of Nevada letter establishing joint trust account for settlement 

proceeds, attached as Exhibit D.  The law office does not have control over the funds 

and interest on the money inures 100% to Brian Edgeworth.  Mr. Vannah is a signer 

on the account, thus the law office did not convert any funds. 

 It is axiomatic that a person not in possession cannot convert.  Restatement 

(Second) of Torts §237 (1965), comment f.   

 Deposit of funds into a trust account is not an act of dominion contrary to any 

stakeholder interest.  In fact, it is the opposite.  The Nevada Supreme Court has ruled 

that holding disputed funds in an attorney trust account is the same as the Court 
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holding the funds in an interpleader action.  Golightly & Vannah, PLLC v. TJ Allen 

LLC, 373 P.3d 103 (Nev. 2016).   

 An attorney is allowed by statute and the rules of ethics to resolve a fee dispute 

via a charging lien.  Assertion of a lien right provided by statute is not conversion.  

See, Restatement (Second) of Torts §240 (1965).  Likewise, undisputed money was 

provided to the client promptly upon funds becoming available.  Thus, no 

conversion. 

  E. The contract argument is moot, because the clients    

  constructively discharged the law firm. 

 The settlement funds were received when the funds cleared the bank on 

January 18, 2018.  The clients signed the checks on January 8, 2018.  When the 

Edgeworth’s filed suit on January 4, 2018 they constructively discharged Mr. 

Simon’s firm allowing for adjudication of the lien pursuant to quantum meruit.  

 In a similar case the Ohio Appellate Court confirmed that the Edgeworths 

constructively discharged their attorney and quantum meruit can be used as the 

method to calculate a reasonable attorneys fee by the trial judge.  The Court also 

confirmed that the trial judge can make findings and conclusions through an 

evidentiary hearing on the allegations of an alleged contract.  
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 In Rosenberg v. Calderon Automation, Inc., 1986 Ohio App. LEXIS 5460 

(Jan. 31, 1986), a lawyer provided services to the client without a contract.  As the 

case was ready to be resolved the client did not want to pay the lawyer because there 

was no contract. The client stopped all communication with the lawyer. The Ohio 

Appellate Court determined that the reasonable value of the lawyer’s services were 

due under quantum meruit.  See case attached hereto as Exhibit “E”.  The Court in 

Rosenberg held an evidentiary hearing to determine the contract issues and the 

amount of the services due to the lawyer.  As here, the client alleged a contract for 

past performance and raised other claims including breach of the lawyer’s fiduciary 

duty.  

 In Rosenberg, the court held an evidentiary hearing and found there was a 

constructive termination of the lawyer’s services when the client refused to speak to 

the lawyer any longer.  The Court also made findings that the lawyer did not breach 

any of his fiduciary duties.  

 The Ohio Court of Appeals in Rosenberg analyzed the attorney-client 

relationship, finding that: 

 “...As Calderon had no further communications with Rosenberg after he 
suggested entering into settlement negotiations, the Rosenberg court 
determined that these events constituted constructive termination: The general 
rule provides that the "attorney-client relationship is consensual in nature and 
that the actions of either party can affect its continuance."  
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Brown v. Johnstone (1982), 5 Ohio App. 3d 165, 167. As the Brown court 
noted, the termination of this relationship occurs when it is evident that the 
party's conduct dissolves the essential mutual confidence between the attorney 
and the client. Id., at 166; Bucaro v. Keegan, Keegan, Hecker & Tully (1984), 
483 N.Y.S. 2d 564.  The termination of the principal-agency relationship may 
occur at the expiration of a reasonable time, Restatement of the Law, Agency 
(2d Edition 1958) 275, Section 105, or when the agent has notice of a change 
of circumstances from which he should reasonably infer that the principal does 
not consent to the exercise of authority. Restatement of the Law, Agency (2d 
Edition 1958) 283, Section 108. 
 
Id. at *13-14 (emphasis added). Calderon’s refusal to communicate with 
Rosenberg, along with ignoring Rosenberg’s letters requesting payment, 
confirmed that the attorney-client relationship was terminated. Id. at *14-
15....” 
  

 The Rosenberg court noted that an attorney that is discharged without just 

cause is entitled to compensation based upon a stated agreement or upon the theory 

of quantum meruit.  Id. at *15.  Interestingly, the Rosenberg court cited an unreported 

case in Ohio, Wilcox v. Rich, noting that: 

 "Where a contract for the performance of labor is wrongfully terminated by 
one-party, after part performance by the other, the right of the party 
performing, to recover the value of the labor performed, irrespective of the 
contract price, depends on whether, having regard to the contract, the party 
wrongfully terminating it, would thereby enrich himself at the expense of the 
other." Wilcox v. Rich (Dec. 22, 1981), Franklin App. No. 81AP-269, 
unreported.  
 
Id. at *15-16 (emphasis added.)...” 

  Thus, the final consideration was how Rosenberg should be compensated – 

either by a percentage of the contingency fee or by the basis of quantum meruit.  The 

client argued that there was a contract under the prior lawyer’s contingency fee 
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agreement, yet there was no signed agreement between the client and Rosenberg.  

The Rosenberg court indicated that termination of a contract after part performance 

of the other entitles allowed the performing party to recover the value of the labor 

performed irrespective of the contract price.  The Rosenberg court did not outright 

state that the contract or contingency agreement could be refuted but instead, the 

court adopted Rosenberg’s election to be compensated via quantum meruit:  

"Consequently, the reasonable value of Rosenberg's services must be based 
either on a percentage of the contingency fee or on the basis of quantum 
meruit. Rosenberg has elected, by his testimony and by his letters to Calderon, 
to be paid based upon the theory of quantum meruit." Id. at *19.  

 
 Notably, Rosenberg did not keep time records, but Rosenberg attempted to 

estimate the total number of hours on the case.  The Rosenberg court found that 

Rosenberg’s testimony on the work he performed was corroborated by Calderon and 

Brenner and, therefore, upheld the lower court’s award to Rosenberg:  

"Upon a review of the record, we find that the trial court exercised its 
discretion in arriving at a fair and equitable determination of fees for services 
rendered by Rosenberg. The trial court's award, in our opinion, accomplishes 
the same and we accordingly affirm." Id. at *20.  
 

 In this case, like Calderon, the Edgeworth’s constructively terminated Mr. 

Simon’s firm without just cause after receiving a good result on the case but prior to 

its conclusion.  While the "just cause" determination is not necessarily considered in 

Nevada for determining whether an attorney should be compensated, the facts in 

Edgeworth support the obvious conclusion that the client constructively terminated 
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Mr. Simon’s firm without just cause.  Obtaining a 6.1 million dollar settlement in a 

property damage case and then being sued before the settlement funds are received is 

without just cause.  Further, as discussed above – both the refusal to pay and the 

filing of a lawsuit constitute constructive termination.  Additionally, when the 

Edgeworth’s made the unfounded comments that Mr. Simon would steal the money, 

it was evident that the Edgeworth’s conduct dissolved the mutual confidence between 

Edgeworth and Mr. Simon.  Additionally, the Edgeworth’s ignored Mr. Simons’ 

request for payment of fees and costs provided to them in November of 2017, prior to 

the conclusion of the settlement.  These acts constituted constructive termination.  

 The Edgeworths may contend that Mr. Simon still represents the Edgeworths 

and there cannot be a termination.  This is not true, as the only reason Mr. Simon 

continues on the case is to fulfill his ethical obligations and heed the continued 

threats by the Edgeworths.  Mr. Vannah confirmed that the law office had not been 

fired, despite being sued by the clients.  Mr. Vannah stated if Mr. Simon withdrew, 

the damages sought from him would go up.2   It is well established that even when 

there is a contract, contingency or otherwise, once the attorney is discharged, the 

attorneys can recover for the reasonable value of his services.  Law Offices of 

                         

2 On January 9, 2018, at 10:24 a.m., Mr. Greene from the Vannah office wrote, 
“He settled the case, but we’re just waiting on the release and the check.”  The 
same day at 3:32 p.m., Mr. Vannah wrote, “I’m pretty sure that you see what 
would happen if our client has to spend lots more money to bring someone else up 
to speed.” 
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Lawrence J. Stockler, P.C. v. Semaan, 355 N.W.2d 271 (1984).  Here, the 

Edgeworth’s clearly discharged Mr. Simon’s firm when they refused to speak with 

him, hired new counsel, falsely alleged he would steal the settlement money and then 

surreptitiously sued him.  Since Mr. Simon’s firm was discharged, he is entitled to 

the reasonable value of his firm’s services under quantum meruit.  In doing so, the 

Court merely looks at the Brunzell factors and adjudicates the lien accordingly.  

 Constructive termination has also been found by other courts.  For example, in 

McNair v. Commonwealth, 37 Va. App. 687, 697-98 (Va. 2002), the court stated that 

evidence of constructive termination by a client is evidenced by placing "counsel in a 

position that precluded effective representation and thereby constructively discharged 

his counsel or (2) through his obstructionist behavior, dilatory conduct, or bad faith, 

the defendant de facto waived counsel."  

 A client’s failure to pay attorney’s fees also is constructive termination.  See 

e.g., Christian v. All Persons Claiming Any Right, 962 F. Supp. 676 (U.S. Dist. V.I. 

1997) ("Further, the court considers Sewer's failure to pay attorneys' fees as a 

constructive termination of the attorney-client relationship between Sewer and 

D'Anna.").  

 Here, the Edgeworths refused to pay any attorney’s fees, even though 

requested in November, 2017, and have refused to pay the outstanding costs of more 

than $70,000.00, even though the detailed costs were provided to the clients in 
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November, 2017. Rather than making any attempts to pay, they sued Mr. Simon 

suggesting no money is due. Therefore, the Edgeworths have constructively 

terminated Mr. Simon in many ways, and have no basis to assert a contract when the 

court determines attorney’s fees.  

 Even more compelling is that multiple jurisdictions conclude that the attorney-

client relationship is a principal-agent relationship.  More so, while it did not concern 

an attorney and client directly, but an agent acting on behalf of a principal through a 

power of attorney, the Superior Court of Connecticut held that a lawsuit is a 

fundamental breach of the principal-agent relationship:  

"Perhaps no more fundamental breach of such a relationship can be imagined 
than that an agent use the power of attorney to sue the principal, who may 
even lack the capacity to understand what is going on."  
 

See Tao v. Probate Court for the Northeast Dist. #26, 2015 Conn. Super. LEXIS 

3146, *13-14, (Dec. 14, 2015). See also Maples v. Thomas, 565 U.S. 266 (2012); 

Harris v. State, 2017 Nev. LEXIS 111; and Guerrero v. State, 2017 Nev. Unpubl. 

LEXIS 472.   

 Since Mr. Simon was constructively discharged by the filing of the complaint, 

among other things, the Law Office of Daniel Simon is entitled to the reasonable 

value of its services via quantum meruit, irrespective of the prior alleged agreement.  
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 The reasonable value of the services by the Law Office of Daniel Simon is 

analyzed by Mr. Kemp in his detailed declaration and he opines that the value of the 

services is in the sum of $2,440,000 for attorney’s fees.   

 F. The Motion to Consolidate is well grounded in law and fact. 

 Nevada law recognizes that the trial court is best suited to analyze issues 

relating to lien claims and attorney client fee disputes.  Leventhal v. Black & Lobello, 

305 P.3d 907, 909 (Nev. 2013); superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in, 

Fredianelli v. Pine Carman Price, 402 P.3d 1254 (Nev. 2017); and, Restatement 

(Third) Law Governing Lawyers §43(3).  

 Courts are provided with discretion to consolidate cases when there are similar 

issues which arise from the same set of facts.  This is such a case.  Further, 

consolidation will prevent an obvious case of forum shopping by the clients. 

. . . 

. . . 

. . .
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III. CONCLUSION 

 This Court has clear, and admitted, jurisdiction to hear the lien dispute.  The 

Court is respectfully requested to set an evidentiary hearing to determine the amount 

of fees and costs due the law firm. 

 DATED this   5th   day of February, 2018. 

      /s/ James R. Christensen  
      James R. Christensen Esq. 
      Nevada Bar No. 3861 
      JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN PC 
      601 S. 6th Street 
      Las Vegas NV 89101 
      (702) 272-0406 
      (702) 272-0415 fax 
      jim@jchristensenlaw.com 
      Attorney for SIMON 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I CERTIFY SERVICE of the foregoing REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 

MOTION TO ADJUDICATE ATTORNEY’S LIEN AND MOTION TO 

CONSOLIDATE was made by electronic service (via Odyssey) this  5th    day of 

February, 2018, to all parties currently shown on the Court’s E-Service List. 

       /s/ Dawn Christensen   
an employee of  
JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN, ESQ.  
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the time of termination, the clients had not suffered any 
damage or lost their case. Accordingly, the termination 
of the attorney's employment was without just cause.

Outcome
The court affirmed the judgment that awarded the 
attorney compensation for the services he rendered on 
behalf of the clients in their patent infringement litigation.
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Act > Apparent Authority > General Overview

Business & Corporate Law > ... > Authority to 
Act > Contracts & Conveyances > Formation & 
Negotiation

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > Duties & Liabilities > General 
Overview

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > Ratification > General Overview

Governments > Fiduciaries

HN3[ ]  Fiduciaries, Fiduciary Duties

The relation of principal and agent is always regarded 
by the court as a fiduciary one, implying trust and 
confidence. All acts and contracts of an agent done or 
made within the discharge of his duties, and within the 
scope of his authority, whether that authority is express, 
implied, or apparent, are obligatory upon the principal, 
and no ratification or assent on the latter's part is 
necessary to give them validity.

Legal Ethics > Client Relations > Duties to 
Client > Effective Representation

HN4[ ]  Duties to Client, Effective Representation

Where the case involves litigation outside the attorney's 
field of expertise, the attorney, in order to retain the 
case, may consult a second attorney.
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Legal Ethics > Client Relations > Attorney 
Fees > General Overview

HN5[ ]  Client Relations, Attorney Fees

An attorney is not entitled to compensation where he is 
discharged for just cause, but if the attorney is 
discharged without just cause, he is entitled to a fee 
based on the reasonable value of his services rendered.

Legal Ethics > Client Relations > General Overview

HN6[ ]  Legal Ethics, Client Relations

The attorney-client relationship is consensual in nature 
and that the actions of either party can affect its 
continuance. The termination of this relationship occurs 
when it is evident that the party's conduct dissolves the 
essential mutual confidence between the attorney and 
the client.

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > Termination > Consent

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > General Overview

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > Duties & Liabilities > General 
Overview

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > Termination > General Overview

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > Termination > Expiration of Time

HN7[ ]  Termination, Consent

The termination of the principal-agency relationship may 
occur at the expiration of a reasonable time or when the 
agent has notice of a change of circumstances from 
which he should reasonably infer that the principal does 
not consent to the exercise of authority.

Business & Corporate Compliance > ... > Contracts 
Law > Standards of Performance > Discharge & 
Termination

Labor & Employment Law > Wrongful 
Termination > Remedies > General Overview

HN8[ ]  Standards of Performance, Discharge & 
Termination

Where a contract for the performance of labor is 
wrongfully terminated by one-party, after part 
performance by the other, the right of the party 
performing, to recover the value of the labor performed, 
irrespective of the contract price, depends on whether, 
having regard to the contract, the party wrongfully 
terminating it, would thereby enrich himself at the 
expense of the other.

Business & Corporate Law > Agency 
Relationships > Authority to Act > General Overview

Legal Ethics > Client Relations > Duties to 
Client > Effective Representation

HN9[ ]  Agency Relationships, Authority to Act

Unless an attorney has been expressly authorized to do 
so, he has no implied or apparent authority, solely 
because he was retained to represent the client, to 
negotiate or settle the client's case.

Counsel: Michael Briley, Richard Scheich, 1000 
National Bank Building, Toledo, OH 43604 for Appellee.

Daniel T. Spitler, Spitler, Vogtsberger & Huffman, 131 E. 
Court Street, Bowling Green, OH 43402-2495 for 
Appellant.  

Judges: Frank W. Wiley, and Bruce C. Huffman, JJ., 
JUDGE CONCUR.Judges Frank W. Wiley and Bruce C. 
Huffman, retired, sitting by assignment of the Chief 
Justice of the Supreme Court of Ohio.  

Opinion by: WILKOWSKI 

Opinion

DECISION AND JOURNAL ENTRY

WILKOWSKI, P.J.

This cause came on to be heard upon the record in the 
trial court. Each assignment of error was reviewed by 
the court and upon review the following disp
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made:

This case comes before the court from a judgment of 
the Lucas County Court of Common Pleas, wherein 
judgment was rendered for plaintiff-appellee, Samuel 
Rosenberg, for attorney fees in the sum [*2]  of $ 
27,000.

This action originates out of a patent infringement case 
filed in the Federal District Court by defendant-
appellants, Albert Calderon and Calderon Automation, 
Inc. Appellants hired Lawrence Brenner to handle the 
patent infringement case. Mr. Brenner was to be paid on 
a simple contingency fee basis. Subsequently, a second 
attorney, appellee Rosenberg, became involved with the 
case. Rosenberg's participation in the case began in 
February 1979. At that time, Rosenberg began 
reviewing the case files and the relevant patent laws. 
From February 1979 through the trial in June 1979, 
Rosenberg's sole duties related to the preparation of the 
patent case. Mr. Brenner and Mr. Calderon also were 
responsible for the preparation of the material for the 
trial. At trial, Rosenberg's responsibilities were limited to 
the direct examination of Calderon and a portion of the 
closing arguments directly related to the special 
interrogatories presented to the jury.

After the jury returned favorable findings on the special 
interrogatories, Rosenberg suggested that settlement 
negotiations with the adversary, General Motors, Inc., 
be initiated. Calderon vehemently opposed any attempt 
to negotiate [*3]  a settlement with General Motors. Due 
to Rosenberg's and Calderon's difference of opinion as 
to the appropriateness of settlement negotiations, 
Calderon had no further contact with Rosenberg. 
Rosenberg, believing that he had been discharged from 
the case, sent letters to Calderon requesting fees for his 
services.

Subsequently, after the alleged constructive discharge 
of Rosenberg from the case, the (Federal District Court) 
judge reversed the jury's findings and entered a 
judgment unfavorable to the establishment of Calderon's 
patent rights.

Calderon obtained new representation for the appeal 
and he eventually obtained a settlement with General 
Motors restoring a portion of his patent rights; however, 
no monetary award was obtained.

Rosenberg, claiming that he had been discharged from 
the case prior to the judge's refusal of the jury findings, 
sought recompense for his services rendered from 
February through July. The trial court, after hearing 

testimony of Rosenberg, Calderon and Brenner, plus 
reviewing over twenty exhibits, rendered judgment for 
Rosenberg in the sum of $ 27,000.

In the judgment entry, the trial court made several 
findings of fact. Upon review of the record, 
including [*4]  386 pages of transcript and over twenty 
exhibits, we find that the findings of fact were supported 
by competent, credible evidence and therefore, we 
incorporate them herein:

"1. In June, 1973, attorney Lawrence Brenner 
entered into an 
attorney-client relationship with Albert Calderon and 
Calderon 
Automation, Inc. for representation in patent 
litigation.

"2. Claderon [sic] subsequently authorized Brenner 
to employ 
additional counsel to represent him in connection 
with the patent 
litigation.
"3. Pursuant to this authorization, and for the 
dominant if not sole 
purpose of providing additional counsel for the 
representation, 
Lawrence Brenner entered into a joint venture or 
partnership with 
attorney Samuel L. Rosenberg with the full consent 
and agreement of 
Calderon. Rosenberg was thereby employed by 
Calderon as additional 
counsel for the patent litigation.

"4. The General Motors case was tried before 
Judge Kennedy of the 
Eastern District of Michigan, Southern Division, 
from May 21, 1979 
through July 5, 1979.
"5. With respect to the formation and conduct of the 
joint venture 

both Brenner and Calderon failed to disclose to 
Rosenberg [*5]  the 
existence of a certain written fee agreement dated 
May 23, 1977, to 
which Brenner and Calderon were mutually parties.
"6. Rosenberg entered into the joint venture or 
partnership with 
Brenner for the principal purpose of acting as 
attorney in the patent 
litigation. In doing so he relied upon the 
representations of Brenner 
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and Calderon to the effect that the litigation had a 
potential 
recovery or value of $ 16,000,000.00 and that the 
attorneys were 
representing Calderon on a simple, unqualified one-
third contingent 
fee arrangement.
"7. Subsequent to the trial and the performance of 
the substantial 
legal services, Calderon discharged Rosenberg as 
counsel in the patent 
litigation by Calderon's refusal to cooperate or 
communicate with 
Rosenberg, his employment of additional counsel 
without Rosenberg's 
consent, and the contemporaneous termination of 
the joint venture or 
partnership by Brenner.
"8. Calderon additionally failed to cooperate with 
Rosenberg as one of 
his attorneys, by refusing to consider any 
settlement no matter what 
its terms, and by refusing to permit his attorney to 
discuss even the 

subject of settlement with opposing counsel.  [*6]  
"9. All of said acts by which Rosenberg was 
discharged as counsel 
occurred prior to the entry of the court's unfavorable 
judgment in the 
patent litigation.

"10. Rosenberg performed services having a value 
on a quantum meruit 
theory of $ 27,000.00.
"11. Brenner has assigned to Rosenberg any 
interest he might claim in 
Rosenberg's fee."

Appellants appealed setting forth seven assignments of 
error. 1 [*21]  The assignments of error were not 

1 The seven assignments of error are as follows: 

 "1. The trial court erred in overruling Calderon's Motion for an 
Involuntary Dismissal at the close of Plaintiff's case because 
Rosenberg failed to prove a direct contractual relationship with 
either Defendant that would provide a basis for recovery. 

 "2. The trial court's judgment for Rosenberg was erroneous 
because Rosenberg failed to prove that Brenner acted as an 
agent for Calderon and intended, as that agent, to create a 
new contract between Calderon and Rosenberg. 

 "3. The trial court's judgment for Rosenberg was erroneous 

individually briefed, but instead were segregated into 
several issues concerning Rosenberg's right to 
compensation. Since all the issues contest Rosenberg's 
right to receive compensation, the issues will be 
addressed together.

Appellants contest the trial court's award of attorney 
fees based on the following: (1) Calderon, neither 
personally nor through his attorney, authorized the 
hiring of Rosenberg and, therefore, Calderon was not 
responsible for the payment of services rendered by 
Rosenberg; (2) assuming Rosenberg was hired by 
Calderon, Rosenberg was never discharged as an 
attorney and, consequently, his fees must be based on 
the contingency fee arrangement between Calderon and 
Brenner; (3) if Rosenberg was ostensibly hired as [*7]  
Calderon's attorney and the court determines that he 
was discharged from the attorney-client relationship, his 
discharge was based on just cause and, therefore, 
Rosenberg was not entitled to compensation for his 
services rendered.

The record indicates that Calderon had hired Brenner to 
handle his patent infringement case. The question which 
arises from that relationship is whether Brenner had the 

because Rosenberg failed to prove that Brenner, Calderon's 
attorney, had actual authority from Calderon to create a new 
contract between Calderon and Rosenberg or any other 
attorney. 

 "4. The trial court's judgment for Rosenberg was erroneous 
because Rosenberg failed to prove that Calderon had actual 
knowledge that Rosenberg had been hired by Brenner in his 
capacity as agent for Calderon, if that was the case, as 
opposed to having been hired by Brenner as associate 
counsel. 

 "5. The trial court's judgment for Rosenberg was erroneous 
because, as a matter of agency law, an attorney has no 
implied or inherent authority to bind his client directly to 
another attorney absent actual or express authority granted by 
the client to do so. 

 "6. The trial court's judgment for Rosenberg was erroneous 
because, as a matter of agency law, Calderon could not have 
ratified any direct contract between himself and Rosenberg 
without actual knowledge that Rosenberg had been hired by 
Brenner acting solely as an agent for Calderon, and without 
actual knowledge of the terms of the contract allegedly created 
thereby. 

 "7. The trial court's judgment for Rosenberg was erroneous 
because Rosenberg, by violating a direct instruction from 
Calderon, first breached any agreement that may have existed 
between himself and Calderon, and thereby excused Calderon 
from further performance."
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authority to facilitate the preparation of the patent case.

HN1[ ] The relationship between an attorney and a 
client is considered to be one of limited agency with 
respect to the particular suit for which the attorney is 
hired. The attorney has no implied power to do more 
than relates to the proper conduct of the suit, and 
cannot, without specific authority, bind the client by 
contract.  Harrison v. Kickbride (1905), 16 Ohio Dec. 
389. The client will only be liable for the acts of the 
attorney performed within scope of his authority, but not 
for illegal acts, unless it can be shown that the client 
participated therein or had knowledge thereof.  Stewart 
v. Elias (App. 1935), 21 Ohio Law Abs. 199, error 
dismissed, 130 Ohio St. 589; Prate v. Freedham (C.A. 
4, 1978), 583 F. 2d [*8]  42; Lloyd v. Carnation Co. 
(D.C.N.C. 1984), 101 F.R.D. 346.

As this court has previously noted, the relationship 
between the attorney and client is, in a broad sense, 
that of an agent and principal.  Gaines Reporting 
Service v. Mack (1982), 4 Ohio App. 3d 234; Blanton v. 
Womancare Clinic Inc. (Cal. 1985), 696 P. 2d 645.

With respect to the principal agency relationship, unless 
otherwise agreed, HN2[ ] an agent's authority to make 
a contract is inferred from the authority to conduct a 
transaction, if the making of such a contract is incidental 
to the transaction or is reasonably necessary to 
accomplish it. Restatement of the Law, Agency (2d 
Edition, 1958), 151-153, Sections 50, 51. An agent's 
authority to appoint an agent is inferred when the parties 
agree to the appointment, the authority is customary 
within the normal business operations, the authority 
exercised is within the proper conduct of the principal 
business and/or the authority is derived out of 
unforeseen circumstances.

As this court said in Foust v. Valley Brook Realty Co. 
(1981), 4 Ohio App. 3d 164, at paragraph three of the 
syllabus:

HN3[ ] "The relation of principal and agent is 
always regarded [*9]  by the court as a fiduciary 
one, implying trust and confidence. All acts and 

contracts of an agent done or made within the 
discharge of his duties, 

and within the scope of his authority, whether that 
authority is 

express, implied, or apparent, are obligatory upon 
the principal, and 

no ratification or assent on the latter's part is 
necessary to give 

them validity."

In this case, Calderon was aware that Brenner was a 
recent law school graduate and a new member of the 
state bar. Having recently entered the practice of law, 
Brenner, pursuant to Canon Six and Seven of the Code 
of Professional Responsibility and the relevant ethical 
considerations, had an obligation to Calderon to act 
competently in handling the legal matter in question. 
HN4[ ] Where the case involves litigation outside the 
attorney's field of expertise, the attorney, in order to 
retain the case, may consult a second attorney. 
Calderon was aware of Brenner's lack of experience 
and in fact was aware that Brenner had obtained advice 
from another attorney on this particular case. Although 
Calderon did not want to associate himself personally 
with the second attorney, he, in fact, conferred upon 
Brenner the authority [*10]  to consult with a second 
attorney.

Mr. Calderon testified as follows:
"Q. Did you discuss at that time the possibility that 
Mr. Rosenberg 
might become involved in presenting your case?
"A. I had some problems before with another 
lawyer, a patent lawyer 
that Mr. Brenner appointed or he wanted to bring 
into the case, and 
the idea was that -- and I had this problem having 
an agreement with 

more than one lawyer, so I just -- we had an 
agreement, and Larry 

Brenner had the right to appoint anybody he 
wanted to help him on the 

case, and the reason I had a problem with another 
lawyer is because he 
wanted to -- you had pre-conditions, irrespective of 
this agreement.
"In other words, he wanted Calderon Automation to 
give him other 
business, and if I don't give him other business he's 
not interested. 
In other words, he put some conditions which were 
outside the 
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agreement." (Emphasis added.)

Based on the foregoing admission and the remaining 
testimony of Calderon and Brenner, it is evident that 
Brenner had the authority to hire a second attorney to 
aid in the preparation of the patent case. The. only 
restriction on the second attorney was that his [*11]  fee 
was to be based upon a share of Brenner's contingency 
fee. In lieu of Brenner's partnership with Rosenberg on 
this case, an attorney-client relationship was established 
between Calderon and Rosenberg. This conclusion is 
buttressed by the parties' testimony which clearly 
indicates that Calderon had spent a substantial amount 
of time and energy with Rosenberg during pretrial 
preparation. Calderon's conduct is indicia of his 
ratification of the role of Rosenberg as attorney on the 
patent case.

Important to the outcome of this case, however, is the 
relationship between Brenner and Rosenberg. An 
exhibit admitted into evidence, signed July, 1979, 
several days after the jury verdict, indicates that Brenner 
and Rosenberg had formed a partnership. The 
document was entitled a partnership agreement. The 
testimony of Brenner and Rosenberg, however, 
indicates that the partnership was limited only to the 
Calderon case. Both attorneys framed their relationship 
as a "one-case partnership." Although there is some 
evidence to the contrary, the trial court found, and we 
too conclude, that Brenner and Rosenberg were 
engaged in a joint venture with its sole objective being 
the favorable outcome of [*12]  the Calderon patent 
case. This conclusion is supported by the fact that the 
partnership apparently dissolved at the conclusion of the 
jury's favorable answers to the special interrogatories, 
and did not continue in any respect past that point in 
time. Further, Rosenberg had only minimal contact with 
other cases during their association.

Having determined that Brenner had the authority to hire 
a second attorney and that Rosenberg was hired to 
assist in Calderon's patent case, we must determine 
whether Rosenberg's attorney-client relationship with 
Calderon was terminated. If the relationship was not 
terminated, then Rosenberg was entitled to a fee based 
upon a percentage of the contingency fee agreed upon 
between Calderon and Brenner. If the relationship was 
terminated, our inquiry necessitates a determination of 
whether the termination was with just cause or without 
just cause. The latter inquiry is based upon the general 
rule that HN5[ ] an attorney is not entitled to 
compensation where he is discharged for just cause, but 
if the attorney is discharged without just cause, he is 

entitled to a fee based on the reasonable value of his 
services rendered.

At the conclusion of the jury's answers [*13]  of the 
special interrogatories, Rosenberg approached 
Calderon with the suggestion that General Motors might 
be willing to settle the case for a total of $ 3,000,000 in 
damages. Calderon refused and informed Rosenberg 
that no negotiations were to be permitted. After this 
point in time, which was after the special interrogatories, 
but prior to the subsequent ruling of the Federal District 
Court reversing the jury's findings, Calderon and 
Rosenberg had no further contact. Rosenberg argued, 
and the trial court adopted, the position that the ensuing 
sequence of events between the two individuals 
constituted a constructive termination of the attorney-
client relationship.

The general rule provides that HN6[ ] the "attorney-
client relationship is consensual in nature and that the 
actions of either party can affect its continuance." Brown 
v. Johnstone (1982), 5 Ohio App. 3d 165, 167. As the 
Brown court noted, the termination of this relationship 
occurs when it is evident that the party's conduct 
dissolves the essential mutual confidence between the 
attorney and the client.  Id., at 166; Bucaro v. Keegan, 
Keegan, Hecker & Tully (1984), 483 N.Y.S. 2d 564.

HN7[ ] The termination of [*14]  the principal-agency 
relationship may occur at the expiration of a reasonable 
time, Restatement of the Law, Agency (2d Edition 1958) 
275, Section 105, or when the agent has notice of a 
change of circumstances from which he should 
reasonably infer that the principal does not consent to 
the exercise of authority. Restatement of the Law, 
Agency (2d Edition 1958) 283, Section 108.

Rosenberg testified that after he approached Calderon 
concerning his suggestion to attempt to settle the case, 
Calderon would no longer communicate with 
Rosenberg. Rosenberg attempted to communicate with 
Calderon by mail, but received no response. 
Contemporaneously, the Rosenberg-Brenner 
partnership dissolved. During the period of time from the 
jury's answers to the special interrogatories until the 
district court judge's judgment, Rosenberg was not 
asked to participate in the preparation of any post-trial 
briefs. Rosenberg further testified that he was not 
informed about the decision of the federal district court 
judge until nearly six weeks after the judgment had been 
rendered.

In rebuttal, Calderon testified that he did not consider 
Rosenberg his attorney at any point in time. Further, 
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that while he did [*15]  receive and read Rosenberg's 
letters, he threw them into the waste basket. These 
letters apparently requested payment of fees for 
services rendered. Having already determined that 
Rosenberg and Calderon did have an attorney-client 
relationship, we find that there is sufficient evidence to 
indicate that any trust which had developed between the 
two parties had dissolved and, therefore, the attorney-
client relationship had terminated.

In view of the foregoing conclusion that the attorney-
client relationship had terminated, we must address the 
cause of the termination of the relationship.

The general rule provides that where an attorney is 
discharged with cause he is not entitled to 
compensation; where the attorney is discharged without 
cause the attorney is entitled to compensation based 
either on the stated agreement or upon the theory of 
quantum meruit. See Law Offices Of Lawrence J. 
Stoekler v. Semaan (Mich. App. 1984), 355 N.W. 2d 
271, 273-274; Teichner by Teichner v. W. & J. Holsteins 
Inc. (1985), 489 N.Y.S. 2d 36.

With respect to attorney fees, the Franklin County Court 
of Appeals stated the proposition in the following 
manner:

HN8[ ] 

"Where a contract for the performance [*16]  of 
labor is wrongfully 

terminated by one-party, after part performance by 
the other, the 
right of the party performing, to recover the value of 
the labor 
performed, irrespective of the contract price, 
depends on whether, 
having regard to the contract, the party wrongfully 
terminating it, 
would thereby enrich himself at the expense of the 
other." [Citation 

omitted.] Wilcox v. Rich (Dec. 22, 1981), Franklin 
App. No. 81AP-269, 
unreported. (Emphasis added.)

Appellants contend that Rosenberg was discharged with 
just cause. Appellants' sole argument is that Rosenberg 
acted in direct contradiction of appellant's orders 
concerning the prohibition to settle the patent case. 
Appellants argue that Rosenberg breached his 
contractual obligations when he purportedly contacted 

General Motors in order to attempt to settle the case, 
despite Calderon's express orders prohibiting such 
contact.

This court's decision in Ottawa County Commissioners 
v. Mitchell (Oct. 12, 1984), Ottawa App. No. OT-84-9, 
unreported, reiterates the position of the Ohio Supreme 
Court in Moor v. Crouch (1969), 19 Ohio St. 2d 24, 
which provides that: HN9[ ] "Unless an attorney 
has [*17]  been expressly authorized to do so, he has 
no implied or apparent authority, solely because he [sic] 
retained to represent the client, to negotiate or settle the 
client's case." See also, Paxton v. Dietz (May 28, 1985), 
Franklin App No. 84AP-972, unreported.

In this case, Calderon, while testifying, speculates that 
Rosenberg attempted to settle the case with General 
Motors. Rosenberg, however, while admitting that he 
telephoned General Motors, described the telephone 
discussion in the following manner:

"Q. Now, how did -- what had to be done, Mr. 
Rosenberg, that lack of 
communication prevented?
"What did you have to do that you couldn't do 
because Mr. Calderon 
wouldn't talk to you?
"A. I couldn't do anything. I couldn't go over the 
briefs with Larry 
and Mr. Calderon when he would come in, because 
he wouldn't talk to 
me. I couldn't talk to the other side, because he 
forbid me to talk to 

them about settlement, but I did call up the other 
side and speak to 

the attorney for General Motors just to discuss with 
him at the end of 

the trial what his views were and so forth of the 
case, just to see 

if I could feel out where they were  [*18]   the kind 
of assess what the 

situation was, but never discussed settlement with 
them. I couldn't do 
a thing on the case."

Absent evidence to the contrary, we cannot conclude 
that Rosenberg's discussion with General Motors was 
an attempt to settle the case and, therefore, 
Rosenberg's conduct, while inadvisable, did not 
constitute a breach of his fiduciary duties. Accordingly, 

1986 Ohio App. LEXIS 5460, *14
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the termination of Rosenberg's employment was without 
just cause.

In summary of the early portions of this opinion, we 
have found that Mr. Rosenberg was hired and did 
establish an attorney-client relationship with Calderon; 
that Mr. Rosenberg was discharged from the 
relationship, and that Mr. Rosenberg's 
discharge/termination was without just cause. We must 
now determine the appropriate measure of damages.

It is axiomatic that had Mr. Rosenberg continued to 
represent Mr. Calderon in the patent case, he would 
have been entitled to his share of the contingency fee 
arrangement between Calderon and Rosenberg. 
However, as previously noted, Calderon terminated the 
relationship without just cause prior to the Federal 
Court's ruling. Due to this factual setting, the issue 
remains concerning the method or [*19]  the measure of 
damages that Rosenberg has incurred.

Calderon argues that Rosenberg's measure of attorney 
fees should be based upon the result of the patent case. 
Calderon further argues that since the federal district 
court judge entered a finding unfavorable to his patent 
rights, and since upon settlement of the case, Mr. 
Calderon did not receive any substantial gain in patent 
rights or in monetary gain, Rosenberg is not entitled to 
fees. We disagree.

Mr. Rosenberg's award of attorney fees cannot be 
based upon the unfavorable outcome of the case. Mr. 
Rosenberg was constructively terminated from his 
position as an attorney for Mr. Calderon after the 
favorable findings of the jury, but prior to the 
unfavorable findings of the federal district court. At the 
time of his termination, Mr. Calderon had not suffered 
any damage or lost his case. Consequently, the 
reasonable value of Rosenberg's services must be 
based either on a percentage of the contingency fee or 
on the basis of quantum meruit. Rosenberg has elected, 
by his testimony and by his letters to Calderon, to be 
paid based upon the theory of quantum meruit. Cf.  
Gross v. Lamb (1980), 1 Ohio App. 3d 1; G. Douglass 
v. [*20]  Downend (1908), 20 O.C.D. 649.

The record indicates that no time records were kept by 
Mr. Rosenberg. Mr. Rosenberg did, however, attempt to 
estimate the total number of hours spent on this case. 
His testimony was corroborated, at least in part, by the 
testimony of Calderon and Brenner. Based upon this 
testimony, the trial court awarded Rosenberg damages 
[for attorney fees] in the sum of $ 27,000.

Upon a review of the record, we find that the trial court 
exercised its discretion in arriving at a fair and equitable 
determination of fees for services rendered by 
Rosenberg. The trial court's award, in our opinion, 
accomplishes the same and we accordingly affirm.

In view of the foregoing, we find appellants' seven 
assignments of error to be not well-taken. 2

A certified copy of this entry shall constitute the 
mandate pursuant to Rule 27 of the Rules of Appellate 
Procedure. See also Supp. R. 4, amended 1/1/80.  

End of Document

2 The record indicates that appellee filed a cross appeal; 
however, no briefs or assignments of error were filed. 
Therefore, appellee's cross-appeal is, hereby, dismisse AA00640
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MTD 
James R. Christensen Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 3861 
JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN PC 
601 S. 6th Street 
Las Vegas NV 89101 
(702) 272-0406 
(702) 272-0415 fax 
jim@jchristensenlaw.com 
Attorney for SIMON  
 

Eighth Judicial District Court 

District of Nevada 

 
EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST;  
AMERICAN GRATING, LLC 

 CASE NO.: A-16-738444-C 
 DEPT NO.: 10   
 
  Consolidated with 
 
 CASE NO.: A-18-767242-C 
 DEPT NO.: 26 
 
 

 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
DANIEL S. SIMON d/b/a SIMON 
LAW; DOES 1 through 10; and, ROE 
entities 1 through 10; 
 
  Defendants. 

 
  
 MOTION TO DISMISS  
 PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED  
 COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO  
 NRCP 12(b)(5) 
 
 
 
  
 Date of Hearing:  N/A 
 Time of Hearing: N/A 

  
  

 COMES NOW Daniel S. Simon, by and through their attorney, JAMES R. 

CHRISTENSEN, Esq. and hereby moves to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Amended 

Complaint pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5).  

Case Number: A-16-738444-C

Electronically Filed
4/9/2018 11:26 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This motion is made and based upon the papers and pleadings on file 

herein, exhibits attached, the points and authorities set forth herein, all other 

evidence that the Court deems just and proper, as well as the arguments of 

counsel at the time of the hearing hereon. 

Dated this   9th     day of April 2018.  

 
 
   /s/ James R. Christensen 
   JAMES CHRISTENSEN, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 003861 
   601 S. 6th Street 
   Las Vegas, NV 89101 
  Phone: (702) 272-0406 
  Facsimile: (702) 272-0415 
  Email: jim@christensenlaw.com 

  Attorney for Daniel S. Simon 

 

AA00701



 

-3- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: ALL INTERESTED PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD 

 You, and each of you, will please take notice that the undersigned will bring 

on for hearing, the MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED 

COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO 12(b)(5) before the above- entitled Court located 

at the Regional Justice Center, 200 Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 on 

the ______ day of __________________, 2018, at _______ a.m./p.m. in 

Department 10.  

 DATED this   9th      day of April 2018. 

   /s/ James R. Christensen 
   JAMES CHRISTENSEN, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 003861 
   601 S. 6th Street 
   Las Vegas, NV 89101 
  Phone: (702) 272-0406 
  Facsimile: (702) 272-0415 
  Email: jim@christensenlaw.com 

  Attorney for Daniel S. Simon 

 
 
 

15th                         MAY                                         9:30 AM
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I. INTRODUCTION 
 
 Plaintiffs filed the amended complaint to attack their lawyer because of a fee 

dispute.  The attack is pointless.  The fee dispute will be resolved by this Court 

pursuant to NRS 18.015 via an evidentiary hearing on May 29, 30 & 31, 2018. 

 The Law Office of Daniel S. Simon, A Professional Corporation, (“Law 

Office”) performed exemplary service for Plaintiffs.  The Law Office recovered 

over Six Million Dollars on a half million-dollar property loss claim.  Despite the 

incredible result, Plaintiffs do not want to pay their lawyer a reasonable fee.  

Instead, when the Law Office sought its statutory right to a reasonable fee under 

NRS 18.015, Plaintiffs sued the Law Office and Mr. Simon. 

 The amended complaint refers to the Law Office and Mr. Simon 

interchangeably.  (A.C., at para. #2.)  This is an error.  Contract claims against a 

law firm/lawyer are governed by contract law.  The contract was with the Law 

Office; as such, Mr. Simon is not a proper defendant under corporate law.  Mr. 

Simon should be dismissed from the First, Second and Fourth Causes of Action.   

 The Third Cause of Action is for conversion.  Plaintiffs allege they have a 

right of possession of money based on a “CONTRACT”.  (A.C. at para. #39.)  As a 

matter of law, a conversion claim cannot be brought on a right of possession 

grounded on a contract.  The Conversion claim does not state a claim under the law 

and must be dismissed. 
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 In addition, the disputed funds are in a separate account, safekept pursuant to 

NRPC 1.15, until this Court resolves the fee dispute pursuant to NRS 18.015.  No 

money was taken or “converted” by the Law Office or by Mr. Simon.  Plaintiffs 

did not plead wrongful dominion, and cannot establish a prima facie case of 

conversion. 

 The Amended Complaint added a Fourth Cause of Action for breach of the 

implied duty of good faith and fair dealing.  The Law Office asked this Court to 

resolve a fee dispute pursuant to statute and the rules of ethics - which does not 

breach a duty.  NRS 18.015(5).  As a matter of law, asking a court to resolve a fee 

dispute does not violate the spirit of an alleged fee agreement. 

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS 

 A. The timeline. 

 Brian Edgworth decided to build a house as an investment.  The build was 

funded by Edgeworth family businesses and/or trusts.  Plaintiffs made the decision 

to build without builders risk/course of construction insurance. 

 On April 10, 2016, during construction, a Viking fire sprinkler caused a 

flood which damaged the unfinished house. 

 In May of 2016, Mr. Simon of the Law Office agreed to “send a few letters”. 

 In June of 2016, the Viking case was filed. 
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 In December of 2016, a certificate of occupancy was issued for the 

investment house.  Following, the house was listed for sale for $5.5M.  The house 

is currently off the market. 

 In December of 2016, the Law Office sent a bill for some fees and costs to 

Plaintiffs. 

 In August of 2017, Brian Edgeworth and Daniel Simon discussed fees.  Mr. 

Edgeworth admitted in an e-mail that they had not had a “structured discussion” on 

fees and ran over some fee options.  (Exhibit A.) 

 The Viking case was heavily litigated.  Through extensive legal work, the 

Law Office was prepared to establish that the fire sprinkler flood was one of many, 

caused by a defect known to Viking, which Viking had failed to warn of or repair. 

 By the fall of 2017, the Law Office had motions on file to strike the Viking 

answer, to strike the Viking product expert, and had positioned the case for an 

excellent trial result. 

 In November/December of 2017, Viking offered $6M to settle. 

 In late November, the reasonable fee due the Law Office was again raised.  

Although the clients promised to discuss the issue, they soon refused to speak to 

their lawyers.  On November 30, 2017, Plaintiffs retained the Vannah law firm.  

The Vannah firm instructed the Law Office to stop communication with its clients. 
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 On December 1, 2017, the Law Office served a charging lien pursuant to 

NRS 18.015. 

 On December 18, 2017, settlement checks from Viking, totaling $6M, were 

picked up by the Law Office.  The Law Office immediately contacted the Vannah 

firm to arrange endorsement.  The Vannah firm declined.  Eventually, the Vannah 

firm relayed an allegation that the checks would not be endorsed because Mr. 

Simon would steal the money.  The baseless accusation was made to support the 

false narrative that the current dispute is something more than a fee dispute - which 

can be easily and timely resolved by lien adjudication. 

 On January 2, 2018, the Law Office served an amended lien. 

 On January 4, 2018, Plaintiffs sued their lawyers.  (Who they have not 

fired.) 

 In early January, an interest-bearing account, with interest going to Mr. 

Edgeworth, was opened at Bank of Nevada.  Disbursal requires the signatures of 

both Mr. Vannah and Mr. Simon. 

 On January 8, 2018, the Viking settlement checks were endorsed and 

deposited. 

 On January 9, 2018, the complaint was served. 

 On January 18, 2018, the bank hold lifted and Brian Edgeworth got a check 

for the undisputed amount of $3,950,561.27. 
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 B. The Law Office of Daniel S. Simon, A Professional Corporation. 

 Plaintiffs named Defendant “Daniel S. Simon dba Simon Law”, alleging 

Breach of Contract, Declaratory Relief and Conversion.  See Complaint, attached 

hereto as Exhibit “B.”  All allegations against Daniel Simon individually are 

without basis as a matter of law and should be dismissed.  Plaintiffs contend that 

Daniel S. Simon was doing business as Simon Law.  See id., ¶ 2.  This contention 

is incorrect as Daniel S. Simon did not do business with the Edgeworth’s and did 

not provide any services in his individual capacity.  Any legal services provided to 

Plaintiffs were done by The Law Office of Daniel S. Simon, P.C., a domestic 

professional corporation.  See Nevada Secretary of State Business License Record 

for Law Office of Daniel S. Simon, P.C., attached hereto as Exhibit “C.”  

Simon Law is not an entity that can be sued.  At most it is a fictitious name 

owned by The Law Office of Daniel S. Simon, P.C.  See Clark County Fictitious 

Firm Name Record for Simon Law, attached hereto as Exhibit “D.”  This is not a 

surprise to Plaintiffs, they directed partial payments for legal services to The Law 

Office of Daniel S. Simon, P.C.  See check payment by Angela and Brian 

Edgeworth to The Law Office of Daniel S. Simon, P.C., attached hereto as Exhibit 

“E.”  Consequently, Plaintiffs have no viable claims against Daniel S. Simon as an 

individual and Defendant is entitled to dismissal of the entire complaint as a matter 

of law. 
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III. ARGUMENT 

A. Defendant Daniel S. Simon Is Not a Proper Party and Should Be 
Dismissed from the First, Second and Fourth Causes of Action. 

 
Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(5) allows dismissal of causes of 

action when a pleading fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

"This court's task is to determine whether ... the challenged pleading sets forth 

allegations sufficient to make out the elements of a right to relief."' Vacation Vill., 

110 Nev. 481, 484, 874 P.2d 744, 746 (1994) (quoting Edgar v. Wagner, 101 Nev. 

226, 228, 699 P.2d 110, 112 (1988) (emphasis added).  Dismissal is proper where 

the allegations are insufficient to establish the elements of a claim for relief. 

Stockmeier v. Nev. Dep't of Corr. Psychological Review Panel, 124 Nev. 313, 316, 

183 P.3d 133, 135 (2008).  This Court should not assume the truth of legal 

conclusions, merely because they are cast in the form of factual allegations. 

Crockett & Myers, Ltd. V. Napier, Fitzgerald & Kirby, LLP, 440 F. Supp. 2d 1184, 

1190 (D. Nev. 2006).   

Plaintiffs allege that there is a contract between them and Defendant Daniel 

S. Simon.  However, this assertion is incorrect and improper.  Taking the allegation 

as true, the agreement was not between Plaintiffs and Daniel S. Simon.  Mr. Simon 

does not contract in an individual capacity; and, Mr. Simon does not do business 

individually.  See Exhibits “C” and “D.” 
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The Law Office is a licensed domestic professional corporation in the State 

of Nevada.  See Exhibit “C.”  Simon Law is a fictitious firm name owned by the 

Law Office.  See Exhibit “D.”  Any alleged agreement for legal services provided 

for Plaintiffs would be through the professional corporation.  

As a matter of law, contract claims against a law firm or a lawyer are 

governed by contract law, which necessarily includes corporate law: 

“A lawyer is subject to liability to a client for injury caused by breach of 
contract in the circumstances and to the extent provided by contract law.” 

 
Restatement Third, The Law Governing Lawyers §55(1). 

The first, second and fourth causes of action all seek relief under the alleged 

contract.  Under contract law and Nevada corporate law, Mr. Simon is not a proper 

defendant.  Mr. Simon is an officer and stockholder of the corporation, Mr. Simon 

may not be named individually in a contract action.  Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to 

state a claim pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5); and, Defendant Daniel S. Simon should 

be dismissed. 

 B. Plaintiffs’ Conversion Action Should Be Dismissed.  

Plaintiffs’ Conversion Cause of Action fails to state a claim and should be 

dismissed.  
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For a conversion claim, Plaintiffs must prove that a Defendant: 

1) committed a distinct act of dominion wrongfully exerted over 
 Plaintiffs’ personal property; and, 

 
2) the act was in denial of, or inconsistent with, Plaintiffs’ title or rights 

 therein; or, 
 
 3) the act was in derogation, exclusion, or defiance of Plaintiffs’ title or 

 rights in the personal property.   
 

Evans v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 116 Nev. 598, 5 P.3d 1043 (2000); Ferriera 

v. P.C.H. Inc., 105 Nev. 305, 774 P.2d 1041 (1989); Wantz v. Redfield, 74 Nev. 

196, 326 P.2d 413 (1958).  Plaintiffs cannot establish conversion as a matter of 

law. 

1. Plaintiffs did not plead a right to possession sufficient to allege 
conversion. 

 
In M.C. Multi-Family Development, L.L.C. v. Crestdale Associates, Ltd., 

193 P.3d 536, 543 (2008), citing California law, the Nevada Supreme Court 

recognized the need to establish the right to “exclusivity” of the chattel or property 

alleged to be converted (M.C. Multi-Family addressed alleged conversion of 

intangible property).  Plaintiffs claim they are due money via a settlement contract, 

and that they have compensated Defendant in full for legal services provided 

pursuant to a contract.  See Exhibit “B,” ¶ 19.  Thus, Plaintiffs have pled a right to 

payment based upon contract.   
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An alleged contract right to possession is not exclusive enough, without 

more, to support a conversion claim: 

“A mere contractual right of payment, without more, will not suffice” to 
bring a conversion claim. 
 

Plummer v. Day/Eisenberg, 184 Cal.App.4th 38, 45 (Cal. CA, 4th Dist. 2010).  See, 

Restatement (Second) of Torts §237 (1965), comment d. 

 Nevada law expressly allows an attorney to recover fees via a charging lien, 

and expressly states such an effort is not a breach of duty.  NRS 18.015(5).  Thus, 

as a matter of law, asserting a charging lien, or expressing a desire to be paid, 

cannot serve to change a lien claim into conversion.  

2.  A charging lien is allowed by statute. 

 NRS 18.015 allows an attorney to file a charging lien.  The Law Office 

followed the law.  Following the law is not wrongful.  Thus, as a matter of law, 

Plaintiffs cannot satisfy the wrongful dominion element. 

3. The money was placed into a trust account, per agreement of the 
parties. 

 
 The Law Office acted properly pursuant to Nevada Rule of Professional 

Conduct 1.15 “Safekeeping Property”.  The Rule states in relevant part: 

(e) When in the course of representation, a lawyer is in possession of funds 
or other property in which two or more persons (one of whom may be the 
lawyer) claim interests, the property shall be kept separate by the lawyer 
until the dispute is resolved. The lawyer shall promptly distribute all 
portions of the funds or other property as to which the interests are not in 
dispute. 
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The Law Office followed the exact course mandated by the Rules of 

Professional Conduct.  The Law Office followed the law and placed the settlement 

money into a separate account-which requires the signature of Mr. Vannah to 

disburse funds.  See Bank of Nevada letter establishing joint trust account for 

settlement proceeds, attached as Exhibit “F.”  Plaintiffs’ have control over the 

funds and interest goes to Brian Edgeworth.  No funds were taken, nor can any 

funds be taken. 

Plaintiffs’ conversion Cause of Action fails as a matter of law.  No money 

has been taken.  Plaintiffs have joint control over the money.  Even more telling is 

the letter drafted by Plaintiffs and presented to the Bank consenting to the handling 

of the funds.  See, Letter from Vannah and Vannah to the Bank of Nevada attached 

as Exhibit “F.”  How can you wrongfully convert funds when the complaining 

party agrees to where the funds should be placed and when Mr. Simon fully 

complied with the Plaintiffs’ direction and placed the funds in a protected account? 

4. The complaint is not ripe. 

It is axiomatic that a person not in possession cannot convert.  Restatement 

(Second) of Torts §237 (1965), comment f.  Plaintiffs sued Defendant for 

conversion before checks were endorsed or deposited.  Likewise, the demands of 

Plaintiffs preceded the date funds were deposited and available and cannot serve as 

a predicate for a conversion claim. 
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Deposit of funds into a trust account is not an act of dominion contrary to 

any stakeholder interest.  In fact, it is the opposite.  The Nevada Supreme Court 

has ruled that holding disputed funds in an attorney trust account is the same as the 

Court holding the funds in an interpleader action.  Golightly & Vannah, PLLC v TJ 

Allen LLC, 373 P.3d 103 (Nev. 2016).  A conversion claim cannot be ripe as a 

matter of law, until funds are removed from trust without legal basis.  Which is 

impossible in this case, because Mr. Vannah is a signer on the account. 

An attorney is allowed by statute and the rules of ethics to resolve a fee 

dispute via a charging lien.  Assertion of a lien right provided by statute is not 

conversion.  See, Restatement (Second) of Torts §240 (1965).  The undisputed 

money was provided to the client promptly upon funds becoming available.  Thus, 

no conversion. 

C. The Fourth Cause of Action should be dismissed. 

The Fourth Cause of Action seeks damages for breach of an implied 

covenant in the alleged fee contract.  The cause of action fails to state a claim as a 

matter of law.  The covenant prohibits arbitrary or unfair acts.  Nelson v. Herr, 163 

P.3d 420 (Nev. 2007).  The Nevada Supreme Court has held that acting in accord 

with statutory law is not arbitrary or unfair.  Ibid. 

The covenant provides recovery in “rare and exceptional cases” for 

“grievous and perfidious misconduct”.  Great American Insurance v. General 
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Builders, 924 P.2d 257, 263 (Nev. 1997) (internal citations omitted).  Plaintiffs 

admit this is a fee dispute.  Use of the statute specifically created by the Legislature 

to resolve a fee dispute is not perfidious, or rare. 

D. Plaintiffs’ Punitive Damages Claims Should Be Dismissed. 

The allegations of fraud or malice to support a punitive damages claim is 

equally false without any basis in law or fact.  Plaintiffs have not alleged facts 

sufficient to establish that Defendant committed any type of fraudulent conduct.  

Fraud must be pled with particularity, and Plaintiffs must meet the higher clear and 

convincing burden of proof.  Plaintiffs’ complaint is not pled with particularity, 

and the conversion claim cannot be brought on the conduct described as a matter of 

law.   

Plaintiffs try to further their claims for fraud and punitive damages by 

manufacturing causes of action that have no basis in the law based upon the facts.

 Plaintiffs' allegations against Defendant do not rise to the level of a plausible 

or cognizable claim for relief for conversion and equally, the claims for punitive 

damages are so lacking that they should be dismissed.  In fact, the Law Office did 

everything required by the rules of ethics and the Nevada Revised Statutes.  See, 

Declaration of David Clark, Esq. attached as Exhibit “G” outlining the duties, the 

law and proper procedure for an attorney lien. 
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Nevada has long recognized that "a plaintiff is never entitled to punitive 

damages as a matter of right."  Dillard Dept. Stores, Inc. v. Beckwith, 115 Nev. 

372, 380, 989 P.2d 882, 887 (1999) (quoting Ramada Inns v. Sharp, 101 Nev. 824, 

826, 711 P.2d 1, 2 (1985)).  Tort liability alone is insufficient to support an award 

of punitive damages.  Wichinsky v. Mosa, 109 Nev. 84, 89, 847 P.2d 727 (1993).  

The punitive damage statutes in Nevada require conduct exceeding recklessness or 

gross negligence.  Wyeth v. Rowatt, 244 P.3d 765, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 44 (2010); 

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Thitchener, 124 Nev. 725, 743, 192 P.3d 243, 

255 (2008).  Plaintiffs' Complaint is interspersed with terms such as "willful, 

malicious and oppressive and in a conscious disregard" in their accusations against 

Defendants.  However, the causes of action and the facts alleged therein do not rise 

to an action of fraud, intentional misrepresentation, deceit, concealment, willful or 

malicious conduct; because, there is not a scintilla of evidence, and the allegations 

contained in the complaint are false and contrary to the facts of the settlement.  All 

information suggests that Defendants did everything possible to protect the clients, 

there cannot be a basis for punitive damages in the complaint.  
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IV. CONCLUSION 

 Defendants respectfully request the motion to dismiss the second amended 

complaint be GRANTED. 

 Dated this    9th      day of April, 2018.  

         /s/ James R. Christensen  
 JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 003861 
   601 S. 6th Street 
   Las Vegas, NV 89101 
  Phone: (702) 272-0406 
  Facsimile: (702) 272-0415 
  Email: jim@christensenlaw.com 

  Attorney for Daniel Simon 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I CERTIFY SERVICE of the foregoing MOTION TO DISMISS 

PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO NRCP 12(b)(5) was 

made by electronic service (via Odyssey) this  9th    day of April, 2018, to 

all parties currently shown on the Court’s E-Service List. 

       /s/ Dawn Christensen  
an employee of  
JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN, ESQ.  
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